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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

 
COMMISSIONERS: Edith Ramirez, Chairwoman 

Julie Brill 
Maureen K. Ohlhausen 
Joshua D. Wright 
Terrell McSweeny 

_______________________________________________ 
        ) 
In the Matter of       ) 
        ) 
Jerk, LLC, a limited liability company,   ) 
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 In 2014, the Commission issued a two-count administrative complaint alleging that Jerk 
and its member and manager, John Fanning, engaged in deceptive acts and practices in violation 
of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).  Count I alleged that Respondents falsely 
represented that the names, photographs, and other content that appeared on the website were 
posted by users and reflected users’ views of the profiled persons, when in fact Respondents 
harvested nearly all of the content from Facebook.  Count II alleged that Respondents falsely 
represented that consumers who purchased a $30 “standard membership” would receive benefits, 
including the ability to dispute information posted on Jerk.com about them.  But customers who 
purchased the memberships received no benefits in return. 
 

On March 13, 2015, we granted summary decision to Complaint Counsel against both 
Respondents on both counts.2  With regard to Count I, we held that Jerk’s statements on its 
website constitute an implied representation that Jerk.com content, including names and 
photographs, was created by Jerk users and reflected their views of the profiled individuals.  
Respondents did not dispute that Jerk itself had taken the “vast majority” of the content from 
Facebook and posted it on Jerk.com.  Respondents also offered nothing to rebut evidence that 
consumers sought removal of their profiles and purchased memberships because of the 
“embarrass[ment]” and “alarm[]” that people they knew had created Jerk.com profiles about 
them.  Op. 14, 16.  Thus, Complaint Counsel sustained their burden to demonstrate that 
Respondents’ representations about the source of the content on the website were both false and 
material.   

 
Respondents barely responded to Complaint Counsel’s motion for summary decision on 

Count II.  Complaint Counsel produced testimony by consumers (confirmed by an FTC 
investigator) who bought Jerk.com memberships but were unable to dispute or remove 
information from their profiles.  Respondents did not rebut or address any of that evidence.  They 
offered instead only John Fanning’s vague and nonresponsive declaration, which stated that “[a]s 
far as [he was] aware,” Jerk “remove[d] content from Jerk.com whenever it was obligated to do 
so” and “would refund money to users who claimed they had paid but had not received 
membership services.”  Op. 20-21.  

 
Finally, we found beyond genuine dispute Mr. Fanning’s individual liability for Jerk’s 

violations.  He instructed programmers to create Jerk.com profiles by taking information from 
Facebook, advocated a business model in which Jerk charged consumers for “dispute resolution” 
services, and defended these decisions to investors and business partners.  Op. 26-28. 
Mr. Fanning’s declaration asserted that he was merely an “advisor” to Jerk, Op. 24, but because 
the declaration did not provide “any evidence to support his bare assertions,” we found it did not 
create a genuine factual dispute.  Op. 28.   
 

                                                 
2 Rule 3.24 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice permits the Commission to issue summary decision 
when it “determines that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact regarding liability or relief.”  16 
C.F.R. § 3.24(a)(2); see Polygram Holdings, Inc., 2002 WL 31433923, at *1 (FTC Feb. 26, 2002) (Rule 
3.24(a)(2) is “virtually identical” to the summary judgment provisions in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 
56).   
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 As a remedy, Paragraph I of the Final Order bars Respondents, “in connection with the 
marketing, promoting, or offering for sale of any good or service,” from misrepresenting the 
source of any content on a website or the benefits
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source of the content posted on Jerk.com.3  Respondents plainly had notice of the implied 
representation theory because their oppositions to Complaint Counsel’s motion for summary 
decision argued that “[n]othing contained in the homepage disclaimer constitutes a ‘claim’ about 
the source of the content, either express or implied, or could possibly be construed as an 
advertisement intended to lure users to the Jerk.com site.”4  Respondents’ notice theory is thus 
without merit. 
 

Respondents next assert that they cannot lawfully be held liable because their 
misrepresentations that the content on Jerk.com was created by users “could not possibly be 
construed as an advertisement.”  Fanning Mtn. to Stay 4-5.  As we explained in granting 
summary decision, however, the Commission’s authority to prevent deceptive practices is not 
limited to “advertising” or “promotional” claims; it applies to any type of commercial 
representation likely to deceive a reasonable consumer.  Op. 11-12, citing FTC v. AMG Servs., 
Inc., 29 F. Supp. 3d 1338, 1349-52 (D. Nev. 2014) (loan note disclosure); FTC v. Wyndham 
Worldwide Corp., 10 F. Supp. 3d 602, 626, 631 (D. N.J. 2014) (statements on website about 
privacy policy).  In any case, the representation that content was user-generated “drove traffic to 
the Jerk.com website” and “was indeed promotional.”  Op. 11-12.  This argument, too, is thus 
meritless.   

 
Respondents are also wrong to argue that the Commission improperly granted summary 

disposition because a “fact question” exists concerning whether they deceived consumers into 
purchasing Jerk.com memberships by claiming they would receive benefits, including the right 
to dispute information in their profiles.  Fanning Mtn. to Stay 6.  Beyond their bare assertion of a 
factual dispute, Respondents cite no actual evidence demonstrating one.  Nor did they cite any 
such evidence in their opposition to Complaint Counsel’s motion for summary decision.  Indeed, 
Jerk did not even address Count II in its brief in opposition, and Mr. Fanning addressed Count II 

                                                 
3 See Complaint Counsel’s Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Decision 20 (“Even if this 
representation were not disseminated through express statements, it would still be presumptively material 
because Respondents intended to convey it to consumers visiting Jerk.com.”); see also id. 7-8 (arguing 
that Respondents’ reposting of photographs from Facebook created an “implication” that Jerk.com’s 
content was user-generated); Complaint Counsel’s Reply to Respondent Jerk, LLC’s Opposition to 
Complaint Counsel’s Motion for Summary Decision 6 (“Here, it is beyond dispute that Jerk made the 
misrepresentation alleged in Count I through multiple explicit and clearly implied statements.”); id. at 9 
(“Because the representation alleged in Count I was conveyed through express and conspicuous implied 
statements, the Commission need not look to extrinsic evidence to unearth a deeper meaning beyond what 
is plain on its face.”).  
 
4 John Fanning’s Memorandum in Opposition to Complaint Counsel’s Motion for Summary Decision 9 
(emphasis added) (citing Kraft, Inc. v. FTC, 970 F.2d 311, 322 (7th Cir. 1992)); see also Jerk, LLC’s 
Memorandum in Opposition to Complaint Counsel’s Motion for Summary Decision 7, 10 (characterizing 
Complaint Counsel as arguing that (1) the Jerk website’s terms and conditions “implicitly represented that 
all profiles on jerk.com were created by jerk.com users,” and (2) Respondents’ misrepresentations were 
material because they were made “explicitly or implicitly but intentionally.” (emphasis added)).  Nor does 
Respondents’ notice theory have merit as to Count II, regarding which the Commission identified express 
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In sum, Respondents have identified no plausible appellate challenge to the 
Commission’s order.  That failure is a sufficient basis for denying their stay requests.  In any 
event, for the reasons discussed below, Respondents do not satisfy the remaining stay factors 
either.   

 
Irreparable Injury 

 
 Respondents bear the burden of demonstrating irreparable injury that is “both substantial 
and likely to occur absent the stay.”  North Texas, 141 F.T.C. at 460.  “Simple assertions of harm 
or conclusory statements based on unsupported assumptions will not suffice.”  In re California 
Dental Ass’n, 1996 FTC LEXIS 277, at *6 (May 22, 1996).  Respondents have not met this 
burden.5       
 

Mr. Fanning’s principal claim of harm is that the Commission was motivated to proceed 
against him and Jerk.com because it disliked the website’s content and that the allegedly 
improper motivation somehow deprives him of First Amendment rights.  Fanning Mtn. to Stay at 
10.  The claim does not address any actual effect on Mr. Fanning of the Final Order and does not 
identify any harm that would be relieved if the Final Order were stayed.  It is also wrong.  Our 
opinion makes clear that the Commission has not targeted the content of Jerk.com profiles, and 
the Final Order does not restrict such content.  Mr. Fanning remains free to create websites that 
“provide[] a platform to exchange opinions in the free-flow of human relationships,” Fanning 
Mtn. to Stay at 10, and the Final Order does not restrict any speech protected by the First 
Amendment.  The Final Order does prohibit Mr. Fanning, “in connection with the marketing, 
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 Finally, Mr. Fanning objects to the Final Order’s requirement that, for the next ten years, 
he notify the Commission when becoming affiliated with a new business or employment or when 
discontinuing any such affiliation.  Mr. Fanning asserts that this reporting requirement is “unduly 
burdensome, as I conduct business with a large number of companies on a regular basis.”  
Fanning Decl. ¶ 7.  But Mr. Fanning fails to explain how reporting even a large number of 
business affiliations could cause him “irreparable harm,” especially given the protections offered 
by the FTC Act and Rules of Practice for commercially sensitive information.     
 
 Of course, equitable relief will always impose at least incidental burdens on a person 
found to violate the law through deception, and Mr. Fanning is no exception.  But he has 
provided no concrete facts showing that the Final Order will cause irreparable harm.   
  

Degree of Injury to Other Parties and the Public Interest 
 
 The remaining stay factors concern whether the stay would harm other parties and 
whether it is in the public interest.  The FTC considers these factors together because Complaint 
Counsel are responsible for representing the public interest by enforcing the law.  Daniel 
Chapter One, 149 F.T.C. at 1600; California Dental, 1996 FTC LEXIS 277, at *8.  We conclude 
that granting Respondents a stay would risk harm to consumers and therefore is not in the public 
interest.   
 
 The Final Order’s prohibitions on misrepresentation, restrictions on the use of 
consumers’ personal data, and required monitoring and recordkeeping measures are necessary to 
protect consumers.  Respondents have injured numerous consumers by (1) creating Jerk.com 
profiles using information derived from Facebook while passing off such profiles as if they were 
created by actual Jerk.com users; and (2) offering profiled persons the right to dispute their 
profiles for a fee and then failing to honor that commitment.  See Op. 33-34.  These practices 
triggered hundreds of complaints with the Commission and state law enforcement agencies.  Id. 
13, 34 & n.15.  Respondents’ misrepresentations were knowing, and their violations of the FTC 
Act were serious, deliberate, and capable of repetition.  See id. 34.   
 

Mr. Fanning argues that a stay creates “no possible risk of harm” because Jerk.com is 
“not currently operating.”  Fanning Mtn. to Stay 12.  But the risks to consumers continue even if 
Jerk.com does not.7  As we noted in our Opinion, Respondents have a history of making similar 
misrepresentations and transferring consumers’ personal data across various websites.  See Op. 
34 (“When Respondents lost the Jerk.com domain name they moved the content to Jerk.org and 
continued making the same misrepresentations. . . . Similarly, Respondents used automatically 
generated profiles on the reper.com website when they began the next iteration of their business 
in 2010.”).  Such practices may continue unless the Final Order becomes effective.  Issuing a 
stay would therefore disserve the public interest.   
  

                                                 
7 Although Mr. Fanning claims that Jerk.com is inoperative, Complaint Counsel note that, as of May 1, 
2015, Jerk.com remains an active website.   
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Conclusion 

 
 Having considered the factors set forth in Commission Rule 3.56(c), we conclude that 
John Fanning and Jerk, LLC have not met their burden for showing that a stay of the Final Order 
pending judicial review is warranted.  Accordingly, 
 

IT IS ORDERED THAT Respondents’ Motions to Stay Enforcement of the 
Commission’s Order Pending Review by the United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit 
are DENIED. 
 

By the Commission. 
 
 

 Donald S. Clark 
      Secretary 
SEAL: 
ISSUED:  May 28, 2015 
  

 


